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STAFF REPORT 
HISTORIC AND CULTURAL LANDMARKS COMMISSION  

CITY OF FORT WORTH, TEXAS 
  
DATES: December 12, 2016 COUNCIL DISTRICT:  9 
 
GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
REQUEST Designation as Historic and Cultural (HC) 
 
APPLICANT/AGENT Only Goodbuys LTD/ Steven C. Laird  
 
LOCATION 1119 Pennsylvania Street  
 
ZONING/ USE (S) NS-T4 
 
NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION Near Southside, Inc.   
 
DESIGNATION 
 
The applicant requests historic designation as a Historic and Cultural (HC). The structure meets 
the following criteria for historic designation: 
 
Criterion 1:  Distinctive in character, interest or value; strongly exemplifies the cultural, 

economic, social, ethnic or historical heritage of the City of Fort Worth, State of 
Texas or the United States. 

 
Criterion 2:  Is an important example of a particular architectural type or specimen that is 

typical of the City of Fort Worth or an example of an architectural type or 
specimen that is unusual in the City of Fort Worth. 

 
Criterion 3: Has been identified as the work of an important architect or master builder whose 

individual work has contributed to the development of the City of Fort Worth. 
 
Criterion 4: Embodies elements of architectural design, detail, materials, or craftsmanship, 

which represent a significant architectural innovation. 
 
Criterion 8: Is identified with a person or persons who significantly contributed to the culture 

and development of the City of Fort Worth, State of Texas or the United States. 
 
FINDINGS / RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The applicant is requesting to designate 1119 Pennsylvania Street as Historic and Cultural 
Landmark. The structure/site at 1119 Pennsylvania Street meets 5 of the 10 designation criteria, 
which is consistent with the requirements of the ordinance for Historical and Landmark 
Properties.  Attached is a summary provided by the applicant explaining how this site meets the 
criteria for designation. Staff recommends the following motion: Motion to approve the 
designation of 1119 Pennsylvania Street as Historic and Cultural Landmark and the use 
of the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation when evaluating any 
proposed alterations. 



 
 

Historic and Cultural Landmark Application 
Oxsheer House, 1119 Pennsylvania Avenue, Fort Worth, Texas 76104 

 
1. Is distinctive in character, interest or value; strongly exemplifies the cultural, economic, social, 
ethnic or historical heritage of the City of Fort Worth, State of Texas or the United States. 
 
The design and location of the Oxsheer House is representative of the type of house that was popular with 
members of Fort Worth’s wealthy white business and professional class in the late 19th and early 20th 
centuries. As noted in the book Fort Worth’s Quality Hill, Summit Avenue, Penn Street, Pennsylvania 
Avenue, and adjacent streets became the fashionable neighborhood in which one’s wealth and social 
status was prominently displayed. Families whose fortune was derived from “cattle, oil, cotton, banking, 
railroads, the law, and real estate” lived in houses designed by the likes of Sanguinet and Staats, L. B. 
Weinman, Howard Messer, Wiley G. Clarkson, and G. Palmer Graves. Along with the grand houses, 
many of the properties included servants’ quarters in separate buildings, often above a detached garage or 
carriage house that was placed by the alley.1 
 
Fountain Goodlet Oxsheer’s residence at 1119 Pennsylvania Avenue reflected this trend. In 1895, he 
purchased property at the southeast corner of what is now Pennsylvania Avenue and Henderson Street. 
The 1898 Sanborn Fire Insurance Company Map indicates that there was a large two-story wood-framed 
residence at this location. Whether it was a pre-existing home or one that Oxsheer had constructed has not 
been determined. In 1916, Oxsheer chose to have a large two-and one-half story brick Prairie School style 
house constructed on the property. This house and its associated servants’ quarters/garage were designed 
by William Reed & Sons and were complementary of the other grand homes further to the west on 
Pennsylvania Avenue. The house originally on the site was moved to the east edge of the property.2 
 
With the encroachment of the central business and medical districts, and later with the construction of the 
East/West Freeway (now Interstate 30), the Quality Hill neighborhood became less popular as the wealthy 
chose to live in new developments such as River Crest, Park Hill, and Westover Hills. Many of the once 
elegant homes were converted to other uses or were demolished. Of the numerous Quality Hill-era houses 
that once lined Pennsylvania Avenue, seven have survived and none retain their residential function. At 
the east end is the Oxsheer House. It retains excellent integrity but now serves a commercial function. 
The 1907 Ambler House at 1226 Pennsylvania Avenue has survived but serves a commercial function 
and has been connected to a florist shop to the east and a large metal-sided warehouse to the rear. The 
four houses on the north side of the 1300 block were originally constructed between c. 1903 and 1911. 
They are now owned by The Woman’s Club of Fort Worth and have been modified over the years to meet 
the club’s needs. The complex was designated a City of Fort Worth Historic and Cultural Landmark in 
1990. To the west at 1509 Pennsylvania Avenue is Thistle Hill, also known as the Wharton-Scott House 
(National Register of Historic Places, 1975; City of Fort Worth Historic and Cultural Landmark, 1976; 
Recorded Texas Historic Landmark, 1977), a large Georgian Revival house sited on a well-manicured 
estate-size lot. Constructed in 1903-04 and altered in 1910, Thistle Hill is Fort Worth’s premiere “Cattle 
Baron” mansion and today functions as a house museum. Bookended by the Oxsheer House to the east 
and Thistle Hill to the west, this section of Pennsylvania Avenue is now dominated by large facilities 
associated with the medical industry.  
 
From its construction in 1916 and as a rare survivor today, the Oxsheer House is illustrative of Fort 
Worth’s evolving cultural, economic, social, and historical heritage. 
 

                                                           
1 Brenda S. McClurkin and Historic Fort Worth, Inc., Fort Worth’s Quality Hill (Charleston, South Caroline: 
Arcadia Publishing, 2014), pp. 7-8. 
2 Billy Oxsheer (great-grandson of Fountain Goodlet Oxsheer), interview with Susan Allen Kline, October 11, 2016. 
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Oxsheer House, 1119 Pennsylvania Avenue, Fort Worth, Texas 
 

2. Is an important example of a particular architectural type or specimen in the City of Fort Worth. 
 
The Oxsheer House at 1119 Pennsylvania Avenue is an important example of the Prairie School style in 
Fort Worth’s Near South Side. Designed by William Reed & Sons and constructed in 1916 for Fountain 
Goodlet and Mary Oxsheer, the house features such hallmarks of the style as two-story horizontal 
massing, low-pitched hipped roof with wide overhanging eaves and prominent attic level dormers, 
symmetrical façade, full-width one-story hipped-roof porch supported by massive square brick columns, 
and double-hung windows with multiple-light sashes over undivided lower sashes. The house retains 
excellent integrity on the exterior and interior and was designated Demolition Delay by the City of Fort 
Worth in 1995. 
 
The Prairie School style originated in Chicago and its suburbs through the work of Frank Lloyd Wright 
and other architects he influenced. It was further spread through the use of pattern books and popular 
magazines. It is recognized as one of the few indigenous American styles and is characterized by low-
pitched roofs that are usually hipped and have wide overhanging eaves that emphasize the building’s 
horizontal massing. Examples are typically two stories in height with one-story wings or porches. The 
porch roofs are generally supported by massive columns. Other detailing often reinforces the building’s 
horizontal massing. The style was most popular during the first two decades of the twentieth century.3 
 
The Oxsheer House is located at the southeast corner of Pennsylvania Avenue and Henderson Street. It is 
two-and-one-half stories in height with a full basement beneath it. It is constructed of brown iron-flecked 
brick, a popular building material in Fort Worth during the early decades of the 20th century. The main 
roof and that of the porch are covered with green clay tile. Typically, the double-hung wood windows 
feature multiple-lights in the upper sash over an undivided light in the lower sash. The window sills are of 
limestone. The contrasting color of the sills also reinforces the house’s horizontal massing 
 
The façade features a centered hipped-roof dormer with wide over-hanging eaves and exposed decorative 
rafter tails (these decorative rafter tails are also used on the roof over the body of the house and on the 
porch roof). The dormer has a tripartite multiple-light window and its walls are covered with green tiles. 
The second and first floors are divided into three bays. On the second floor, the outer bays each have one 
large 15/1 double-hung wood window. The center bay has a 10/1 double-hung window flanked by 
multiple-light casement windows. The outer bays of the first floor also have the large 15/1 double-hung 
wood windows. The center bay has a wide French door flanked by multiple-light sidelights. The porch’s 
roof is hipped with a projecting hipped bay at the center. The porch roof is supported by four massive 
square brick columns with limestone capstones. The columns have narrow blind arches, also of brick, 
with stone sills. A stone balustrade runs between the columns and across the east and west ends of the 
porch. Between the center columns are the stairs that lead to the porch. These are flanked by brick wing-
walls with stone caps. The porch floor is covered with red tile. A second set of stairs on the east end of the 
porch has been replaced with a handicapped lift. 
 
The west elevation faces Henderson Street. It also has a hipped-roofed dormer at the attic level. The 
second and first floors have a variety of window sizes that continue the pattern of multiple-light sashes 
over an undivided lower sash and stone sills. Above the interior landing between the first and second 
floors is a large window opening. It retains its original stained glass transom with stylized depictions of 
oil derricks. Its geometric patterning is highly representative of the Prairie School style. The original 
stained glass windows that were below the transom were removed during a period when the house was 
vacant. They were replaced later with contemporary stained glass windows in the 1970s. Below this 
window opening is an entrance with a two-panel door with multiple-lights. Above the door is a small shed 

                                                           
3 Virginia and Lee McAlester, A Field Guide to American Houses (New York: Alfred P. Knopf, 1996), pp. 439-40. 
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Oxsheer House, 1119 Pennsylvania Avenue, Fort Worth, Texas 
 

roof supported by wood brackets. An interesting feature of this elevation is the original wood ice door that 
is below paired kitchen windows. 
 
The rear (south) elevation is composed of three sections that give it an irregular rectangular massing. The 
left section corresponds to the kitchen and a second-story sleeping porch. On the east elevation of this 
segment is the rear entrance. It appears not to retain the original door. To the right of this entrance is an 
entrance to the basement. The center section is recessed behind the plane of the left section and 
corresponds to the dining room on the first floor and a bedroom on the second. The right section is set 
back from the center section and corresponds to a sleeping porch on the second floor and the sunroom on 
the first. Ribbons of three windows with 9/1 configurations are on the first and second floors of the south 
and north elevations. A ribbon of five 9/1 windows is on the first and second floors of the east elevation. 
 
The interior retains many historic features. They include room configurations, oak hardwood floors, red 
clay tile floor in the sun porch, window and door trim, and fixtures in the upstairs bathrooms. Prairie 
School influences include the Rookwood tile around the fireplace in the front room, pocket doors, 
wainscoting in the dining room, original balustrade along the stairs from the first to the second floor, and 
built-in cabinets in the downstairs library. The house is now used for professional offices. 
 
A monument sign identifying the occupant of the building is located near the northwest corner of the 
property. There is a concrete sidewalk that parallels Pennsylvania Avenue and one that runs from the curb 
to the front steps. Another sidewalk parallels Henderson Street. With the widening of this street, the yard 
along the west side of the house has been narrowed. A concrete driveway runs along the east side of the 
house to the asphalt parking lot in the rear. The parking lot covers the majority of the rear yard. The 
servants quarters/garage that appears on the 1951 Sanborn Map was removed more than 30 years ago. A 
brick wall that ran along the west side was also removed decades ago. Bordering the south edge of the 
parking lot is a paved alley. 
 
In sum, the Oxsheer House is an outstanding example of the Prairie School style and retains excellent 
historical and architectural integrity on the exterior and interior. The Texas Historical Commission has 
rendered a preliminary opinion that the house is eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic 
Places for its architectural significance as an excellent local example of the Prairie School style (see 
attached email). 
 
3. Has been identified as the work of an important architect or master builder whose individual 
work as contributed to the development of the City of Fort Worth. 
 
The Oxsheer House was constructed by the well-known firm of Butcher & Sweeney. This firm was in 
operation for more than 50 years and was responsible for the construction of many notable buildings in 
Fort Worth. They include the following works in South Fort Worth: Central Methodist Church, 1519 
Lipscomb (1909), Harris Methodist Hospital, 1300 W. Cannon (1924-1930), and the M-K-T Railroad 
Freight Station addition, 320 E. Vickery Boulevard (1953). Buildings constructed in the Central Business 
District include the Monnig Dry Goods Company, Wholesale (1925), Charles E. Nash Elementary School 
(1927), J. C. Penney Building (attributed, 1929), Fair Building Garage/Service Life Center Parking 
Garage (1950-51), Civil Courts Building (1957-58), Criminal Courts and Jail Building (1962), the 
remodel of the Fair Building (1964), and First National Bank/Baker Building renovation (1967). Other 
Fort Worth projects include the Scott-Bailey House (1918), Traders Oil Mill Office Building (1918), 
Tandy Elementary School (1922), Memorial Arch, Texas Christian University (1923), North Side Junior 
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High School (1927), Amon G. Carter Stadium (west side, 1930), Arlington Heights Senior High School 
(1936-37), and Casa Manana (1958).4 
 
4. Embodies elements of architectural design, details, materials or craftsmanship which represent a 
significant architectural innovation. 
 
The Oxsheer House was designed in the Prairie School style. Noted architectural historian Virginia 
McAlester wrote that the Prairie style “is one of the few indigenous American styles. It was developed by 
an unusually creative group of Chicago architects that have come to be known as the Prairie School.”5  
The acknowledged master of the style was Frank Lloyd Wright. Applied almost exclusively to residential 
architecture, Wright and his followers “consciously rejected current popular academic revival styles and 
sought to create buildings that reflected the rolling Midwestern prairie terrain on which they were to be 
built.”6 This was reflected through the prominent horizontal massing of houses with low-pitched roofs 
(usually hipped) and wide overhanging eaves. Houses were typically two-stories with one-story porches 
that also emphasized horizontal massing. Although the style received critical acclaim, its popularity with 
the American public was confined to the first two decades of the twentieth century. 
 
8. Is identified with a person or persons who significantly contributed to the culture and 
development of the City of Fort Worth, State of Texas or the United States. 
 
The Oxsheer House at 1119 Pennsylvania Avenue is significant for its association with Fountain Goodlet 
(F. G.) Oxsheer (1849-1931), a pioneer West Texas rancher. Oxsheer was born on November 9, 1849 in 
Milam County, Texas, the son of William W. and Martha (Kirk) Oxsheer. William W. Oxsheer was a 
pioneer Milam County farmer who was elected to the Texas House of Representatives in 1873.7 
 
F. G. Oxsheer engaged in cattle drives to Kansas after the Civil War. By 1880, he worked as a rancher, 
businessman, and peace officer in the east central Texas town of Calvert and was credited with 
establishing law and order in a previously lawless community. He moved further west to Colorado City, 
Texas in 1884 with his wife Mary (Beal) whom he married in 1873. He formed the Jumbo Cattle 
Company with members of Mary’s family and established his own ranches on the Llano Estacado, or 
Staked Plains. He was among the earliest white settlers in this section of Texas and helped introduce 
windmills to the region, thus opening it to permanent settlement. This would later prove detrimental to 
ranchers as much of the open range became filled with farmers. The increase in the value of land and 
corresponding taxes would force many ranchers, including Oxsheer, to divest their holdings.8  
 
However, for many years Oxsheer prospered in the livestock industry and by the 1890s, he owned 30,000 
head of cattle across a ranching empire of 1.25 million acres. It was around this time that he moved his 
family to Fort Worth, purchasing property at the southeast corner of Pennsylvania Avenue and what 
became known as Henderson Street. Here, he established a home but remained heavily involved in his 
ranching interests and the buying and selling of livestock. By the late 1890s, Oxsheer and business 
partner and friend, C. C. Slaughter, had one of the largest herds of registered Hereford cattle in the U.S. 
                                                           
4 This information was gathered from  the Tarrant County Historic Resources Survey for Fort Worth’s Southside; 
Central Business District; Fort Worth, Upper North, Northeast, East, Far South, and Far West; and Fort Worth Near 
North Side and West Side, Westover Hills. 
5 McAlester, A Field Guide to American Houses, p. 440. 
6 John C. Poppeliers, S. Allen Chambers, Jr., and Nancy B. Schwartz, What Style is It? A Guide to American 
Architecture (Washington, DC: Preservation Press, 1983), p. 80. 
7 Handbook of Texas Online, Benton R. White, “Oxsheer, Fountain Goodlet,” accessed November 14, 2016, 
http://www.tshaonline.org/handbook/online/articles/fox01.  
8 Ibid; Benton R. White, The Forgotten Cattle King, Centennial Series of the Association of Former Students, Texas 
A&M University, no. 19 (College Station: Texas A&M University, 1986), p. 67. 

http://www.tshaonline.org/handbook/online/articles/fox01
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which they kept on Oxsheer’s ranches. By the 1900s, Oxsheer had ranches in Chihuahua, Mexico and 
throughout West Texas. In Mexico, he also introduced the use of windmills and blooded stock on his 
holdings there. His Lazy Diamond brand became associated with excellence in beef cattle.9  
 
A cursory look at some of his holdings and sales of ranchland give a hint of his ranching empire. In 1906, 
cereal magnate C. W. Post of Battle Creek, Michigan purchased one of Oxsheer’s ranches containing 
24,223 acres. In 1909, Oxsheer sold 4,500 head of cattle and horses and leasing privileges on a ranch in 
Hockley County for $100,000. Around this same time, he purchased eighty sections, or 51,200 acres, in 
Pecos County and a herd of “high-grade” Herefords for approximately $100,000.10 In late 1915, Oxsheer 
sold his 40,000-acre ranch in Pecos County for approximately $200,000. Newspapers mentioned that the 
sale included 1,000 full-blooded Hereford cattle. It was also noted that the ranch had become famous for 
the “wolf-tight fence which was built around it at an enormous cost.”11 It was shortly after this sale that 
Oxsheer commissioned William Reed & Sons to design a new house for him at the Pennsylvania Avenue 
property.   
 
During World War I, Oxsheer invested heavily in feeder cattle. When prices declined after the war, he 
nearly lost his ranching empire. He made strides in rebuilding his ranches but the advent of the Great 
Depression brought additional financial hardships. Following the death of his son, F. G. Oxsheer, Jr., in 
early 1931, the senior Oxsheer died on September 28, 1931 at his home on Pennsylvania Avenue.12 
 
Oxsheer was posthumously inducted into the Hall of Cattle Kings of Texas at the state’s Centennial 
Exposition in 1936. Beneath his portrait at the exposition was written “In all branches of the livestock 
industry he was a ‘pioneer.’ His experiments in the breeding of better range cattle were as numerous       
as . . . the trails he blazed in West Texas.”13 Despite this acclaim, his contributions were largely forgotten 
until the publication of Benton R. White’s book The Forgotten Cattle King in 1986. In 2015, he was 
inducted into the Texas Trail of Fame.14 

 
  

                                                           
9 White, “Oxsheer, Fountain Goodlet.” 
10 Dallas Morning News, November 18, 1906, January 23, 1909, and February 27, 1909.  
11 The Houston Post (Houston, Texas), November 25, 1915. 
12 White, “Oxsheer, Fountain Goodlet.” 
13 White, The Forgotten Cattle King, frontispiece.  
14 Western Heritage from the Texas Trail of Fame, “Fountain Goodlet Oxsheer,” accessed November 13, 2016, 
http://texastrailoffame.org/inductees/fountain-goodlet-oxsheer/. 
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Historic Photo of the Oxsheer House  
 

 
 
 
Façade, looking south 
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Oxsheer House, 1119 Pennsylvania Avenue, Fort Worth, Texas 
 

Porch, looking west 
 

 
 
View looking southeast at north and west elevations 
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West elevation, looking southeast 
 

 
 
Rear, looking north 
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Oxsheer House, 1119 Pennsylvania Avenue, Fort Worth, Texas 
 

Rear, looking northwest. 
 

 
 
East and north elevations, looking southwest 
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Handicap lift on east side of porch, looking southwest 
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Monument sign, near northwest corner of property, looking southeast 
 

 
 
Dining room, looking south 
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Front room, looking west. Rookwood tile on fireplace, pocket doors to library. 
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Central stairs, looking west 
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Google Earth (retrieved 11-6-2016) 
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Tarrant Appraisal District Map, Lot 1A, Block 1, College Hill Addition to Fort Worth 
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1951 Sanborn Fire Insurance Co. Map, Fort Worth, TX, Volume 1, Sheet 39 
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STAFF REPORT 
HISTORIC AND CULTURAL LANDMARKS COMMISSION  

CITY OF FORT WORTH, TEXAS 
  
DATES: December 12, 2016 COUNCIL DISTRICT:  9 
 
GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
REQUEST Designation as Historic and Cultural (HC) 
 
APPLICANT/AGENT Only Goodbuys LTD/ Steven C. Laird  
 
LOCATION 2601 Hartwood Drive  
 
ZONING/ USE (S) A-10 
 
DESIGNATION 
 
The applicant requests historic designation as a Historic and Cultural (HC). The structure meets 
the following criteria for historic designation: 
 
Criterion 1:  Distinctive in character, interest or value; strongly exemplifies the cultural, 

economic, social, ethnic or historical heritage of the City of Fort Worth, State of 
Texas or the United States. 

 
Criterion 2:  Is an important example of a particular architectural type or specimen that is 

typical of the City of Fort Worth or an example of an architectural type or 
specimen that is unusual in the City of Fort Worth. 

 
Criterion 3: Has been identified as the work of an important architect or master builder whose 

individual work has contributed to the development of the City of Fort Worth. 
 
Criterion 4: Embodies elements of architectural design, detail, materials, or craftsmanship, 

which represent a significant architectural innovation. 
 
Criterion 8: Is identified with a person or persons who significantly contributed to the culture 

and development of the City of Fort Worth, State of Texas or the United States. 
 
FINDINGS / RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The applicant is requesting to designate 2601 Hartwood Drive as Historic and Cultural 
Landmark. The structure/site at 2601 Hartwood Drive meets 5 of the 10 designation criteria, 
which is consistent with the requirements of the ordinance for Historical and Landmark 
Properties.  Attached is a summary provided by the applicant explaining how this site meets the 
criteria for designation. Staff recommends the following motion: Motion to approve the 
designation of 2601 Hartwood Drive as Historic and Cultural Landmark and the use of the 
Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation when evaluating any proposed 
alterations. 
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Supplemental Materials 

 

 
Aerial 
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